
TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION 
Agenda 

October 4, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chambers 

321 S. Delaware St. 

*Note – This meeting may be transmitted via Facebook Live on the City of Tonganoxie page

CALL TO ORDER – Planning Commission Meeting 

1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – July 5, 2018

2. OPEN AGENDA – In order to speak during open agenda, you must sign in before the

meeting. Please give your name and address to the City Clerk or designee. Comments

will be limited to 3 minutes. Please wait to be recognized by the Chair and before

speaking state your name and address for the record.

3. NEW BUSINESS

a) Public Hearing – Special Use Permit – Storage Units - 1208 Hwy 24/40– Submitted

by Bright Star Properties.

4. OLD BUSINESS

5. GENERAL INFORMATION

a) Home Builders Association Permit Statistics - August

b) Market Research Statistics – August

6. ADJOURN



 

Minutes - Page 1 of 3 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 
July 5, 2018 

7:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 

CALL TO ORDER 

• Chairman Morgan opened the meeting at 7:04 p.m. 
• Roll Call: Planning Commissioners present were Chairman John Morgan, Monica Gee, Steve Ashley, Kevin Harris, 

Patti Gabel and Zach Stoltenberg. Jacob Dale was absent.  City Manager George Brajkovic, Assistant City 
Manager Dan Porter, Planning Consultant Chris Brewster with Gould Evans, City Attorney Shannon Marcano, 
and City Clerk Patricia Hagg were also in attendance.   

1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – JUNE 7, 2018  

o Mr. Stoltenberg made a motion to approve the minutes from the June 7, 2018 Planning Commission meeting.  
o Mr. Ashley seconded.  
o Vote of 5 ayes, 1 abstain (Gee), motion carried. 

2. OPEN AGENDA 

• No members of the public signed up for public comment.  
• Chairman Morgan closed the open agenda portion of the agenda.  

3. NEW BUSINESS 

a) PUBLIC HEARING – TEXT AMENDMENTS TO ZONING REGULATIONS SECTION 16 - “I-LT” LIGHT INDUSTRIAL 
& APPENDIX A – USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY 

Mr. Brewster reviewed the planning staff report #2018-008A .  He stated it is fairly common to see Early 
Education Center proposals in the industrial districts to allow for child care near work centers. He also identified 
the Light Industrial areas within the city limits where this change would apply.  He stated staff recommends 
approval of adding Child Care Centers to the text amendments in the Light District Section 16 and adding Child 
Care Centers to the Use Group Category as a permitted use.   

• The public comment portion of the agenda was opened and closed by Chairman Morgan without anyone 
providing comments for or against the amendments. 

• Mr. Stoltenberg recused himself from discussion and voting due to a possible conflict of interest-his firm may be 
hired as architects for property in the Light Industrial District. 

• The Commissioner’s discussed the text changes and when they had no further questions or comments 
o Ms. Gee made a motion to amend “Zoning Regulations, Chapter 16, Item 16-012.A”- Light Industrial District 

zoning to read “Uses shall focus upon administrative facilities, research institutions, light manufacturing 
activities, warehousing and wholesaling of goods, tradesman’s workshops, and other service uses that 
support the employment and light manufacturing business in this district.” And update the Use Groups Table 
to identify Daycare: Child Care Center (or) Preschool as an allowable use by placing an “X” in the table under 
I-LT.  



 

Minutes - Page 2 of 3 

 

o Ms. Gable seconded the motion.  
o Roll Call Vote – Gabel-aye, Ashley-aye, Gee-aye, Morgan-aye, Harris-aye.  Motion carried 5/0. Stoltenberg-

recused 
This item will be recommended for approval to the City Council on August 6, 2018, to allow for the required 14-day 

protest period.  

b) DISCUSSION & REVIEW – THE SCHOOLYARD FINAL PLAT - SUBMITTED BY TONGIE 5 LLC  

• Mr. Brajkovic stated a new plat survey was required to finish the purchase agreement for the new library. The 
survey shows 2 acres on the south side of the plat will be split for the library land purchase and the northern 
portion of the plat will remain residential.   

• Mr. Brewster reviewed the plat and stated after further review this plat could be addressed as a lot 
consolidation/lot split rather that a Final Plat. He stated the lot consolidation/lot split can be approved by staff 
per Section 6.01.e and per f.2 would only need a planning commission review if it is “out of character” with the 
surrounding area. He stated this large lot used for an institutional use meets the requirement of the planning 
commission review and direction to staff to review and approve the lot consolidation/lot split. He also stated the 
smaller lots recorded on the original Railroad Addition Plat and shown on the Schoolyard Plat could be 
addressed through lot consolidation/lot split process and the alleys, easements and 3rd St could be reviewed 
during development plan reviews.  
 
o Ms. Gee made a motion to allow staff to review and approve the lot split/lot consolidation for the 

Schoolyard Plat.  
o Mr. Stoltenberg seconded the motion 
o All ayes, Motion carried 6/0  

 

c) PLANNING COMMISSION OPEN POSITIONS  

• Chairman Morgan opened discussion for the city position currently held by Steve Ashley and county position 
currently held by Monica Gee that are open for appointment in 2018. He explained the terms will expire in 
2021. The positions were advertised and five (5) applications were received. Monica Gee submitted an 
application for reappointment and Steve Ashley announced his resignation.  Applications for the City 
Position were received from Robert Bieniecki, 300 W. Washington St.; Cynthia Stewart-Grant, 1182 S 
Delaware St. and Crystal Henson, 411 E 1st St.  Applications for the County Position were received from 
Monica Gee, 17685 214th St. and Howard Brewington, 20260 Parallel Rd.   

• Each applicant was asked to introduce themselves to the Planning Commission.  They summarized their 
resume and provided insight as to why they wanted to be appointed to the open planning commission 
positions.  

• After discussion the Planning Commission agreed to recommend Crystal Henson and Monica Gee to the 
Mayor and City Council for appointment.  The applicants were advised that all applications will be reviewed 
again at the City Council meeting on Monday, July 16, 2018 at 7:00pm.   

4. OLD BUSINESS 



 

Minutes - Page 3 of 3 

 

• No items.  

5. GENERAL INFORMATION  

a) HOMEBUILDERS ASSOCIATION PERMIT STATISTICS 

b) MARKET RESEARCH STATISTICS 

• No action was taken. 

c) THANK YOU FOR YOUR SERVICE TO STEVE ASHLEY FOR 3 YEARS AS PLANNING COMMISSIONER 

 

6. ADJOURN 

o Ms. Gee, made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  
o Mr. Ashley seconded the motion.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried 6/0.  
o Meeting adjourned at 7:55 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
 

Patty Hagg, Planning Clerk 



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT 

 
Case:   2018-009S 
 
Date of Report: September 28, 2018 
 
Recommendation: Approval, based on conditions cited. 
 
Applicant Name: Bright Star Properties 
 
Property Owner Name: Dan Lynch 
 
Subject Property Address: 1208 State Avenue 
 
Property Size:  4.17 Acres 
 
Current Zoning:  GBD - General Business 
 
Legal Description:  A tract of land in the Northwest ¼ of Section 10, Township 11 South, Range 21 East 
of the Sixth P.M. (for full description see Exhibit “A” of the application). 
 
 

 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
A. Subject Property.  Commercial use on 4.17 acres 
B. Proposal.  To construct 8 storage buildings containing 136 storage units, on the southern portion 

of the property to the rear of an existing commercial use, for public use. 
C. Nature of Application.  Special Use Permit  

 
II. BACKGROUND 
Bright Star Properties has filed an application for a Special Use Permit for the construction of 8 storage 
buildings containing 136 individually leasable storage units.  The property owned by Mr. Lynch, is zoned 
GDB, and is currently used as a commercial property, with a retail store.    The existing lot is 
approximately 390 feet wide and 480 feet deep. However, the property has a frontage of only 200 feet 
along US-24 due to the shape of the property, typically referred to as a “key lot”.  Therefore, the 
property gains 190 feet of width behind the principal building and shares a property line to the east, 
south, and west with the following districts: General Business (directly east along US-24), Multi-Fam 2 
(back-east), Multi-Fam 1 (south), and Moderate Industrial (I-MD; southwest), General Business (directly 
west along US-24), and Moderate Industrial (I-MD; directly north along US-24). 
 



2 
 

On June 18, 2018, the City Council approved amendment to the City Zoning Ordinance which included 
updates to Section 22 and revisions to the section for Special Use Permits. The amendment (Ordinance 
1433) added, “self-service storage is allowed as a secondary use, provided it is limited in extent, scale or 
prominence of site and building elements to an allowed principle use in the GBD, through a special use 
permit.” 
 
On June 22, 2009, the City Council approved amendments to the City Zoning Ordinance which included 
updates to Section 22 and revisions to the section for Special Use Permits. The amendments included 
the addition of procedures for the revocation of a Special Use Permit should circumstances warrant, 
which generally include: 

 Noncompliance with any provisions of the zoning ordinance; 

 Noncompliance with any provisions for special use permits; 

 Noncompliance with any conditions of a specific special use permit; 

 Other violations of the Municipal Code regarding buildings, property, use or activities of the 
owner; or 

 Changes in conditions in the area that make the permit no longer appropriate. 

The procedures to revoke a permit may be initiated by a majority of the Governing Body or Planning 
Commission.  
 
III. REVIEW CRITERIA 
In accordance with Section 22, “In making a recommendation to the Governing Body, the Planning 
Commission shall specify the particular grounds relied upon and their relation to the proposed use and 
shall make affirmative that the proposed use conforms with the general standards set forth in this article. 
In no case shall an exception be granted if the proposed use will constitute a nuisance, public health, 
or safety hazard to adjacent properties or to the community at large.” 
 
In general, Special Use Permits are used for two circumstances: (1) to allow uses that are not universally 
appropriate for a district, but based on specific site, location, operation or design contingencies of an 
individual application may be appropriate; and/or (2) to allow uses that are not ideal for the long-range goals 
of a particular district, but are an appropriate interim improvement on a specific site that will not undermine 
the long-term investments on the site or in the district, consistent with plans or the district intent. 
 
This application is considered for the first circumstance referenced above for special use permits – to 
enable a use that due to its limited scale and intensity, and due to the specific location and 
circumstances of the proposed use, it may be consistent with the zoning of the area. 
 
Specifically, the Zoning Ordinance allows the Governing Body to approve Special Use Permits based on a 
review and recommendation of the Planning Commission, when in their judgment the application:  

 “will not seriously injure the appropriate use or safety of neighboring property; and 

  will conform to the general intent and purpose of this ordinance; and 

  shall comply with the height and area regulations of the district in which it may be located.”  [Section 22-
020.a.] 

 
In addition, the application must be reviewed against the following conditions as outlined in Section 22-
020.b. of the Zoning Ordinance.  After each consideration are staff comments.  Staff has not had the 
benefit of hearing testimony; therefore, the Planning Commission should indicate agreement or 
disagreement with these criteria based on the application and record established at the hearing prior to 
acting on the application. 
 



3 
 

a. The location and size of the proposed use in relation to the site and to adjacent sites and uses of 
property, and the nature and intensity of operations proposed thereon. 
The proposed use would be located on the southern and central portions of the site, with the 
remaining portions of the site currently being used for commercial use. Adjacent uses include 
commercial, light industrial and public uses within the GBD and Moderate Industrial zoning 
designations. However, adjacent properties to the south are planned for multi-family development 
(MF-1) and currently platted for residential use and well as planned to the east. Similarly, single 
family uses are close the to the southeast corner of the subject property and near the proposed 
storage buildings.  
 
The heights of the buildings are not identified on the site plan. However, typical self-storage units 
are one-story in height or less than 15 feet. The adjacent residential development contains a 
mixture of single and two-story residential dwellings. The height of the proposed buildings should be 
consistent with the adjacent residential development, at less than two stories. 

 
b. Accessibility of the property to police, fire, and refuse collection and other municipal services; 

adequacy of ingress and egress to and within the site; traffic flow and control; and the adequacy 
of off-street parking and loading areas. 
Access to the rear of the subject property is limited through an access driveway along the western 
edge of the property. The drive also provides access for delivery vehicles to the grocery store on the 
adjacent parcel to the west. If delivery vehicles block the driveway during deliveries, emergency 
access to the storage buildings could be an issue.  
 
Access to the individual storage buildings is proposed through a new asphalt pavement, servicing 
each building and each storage unit.  
 
The parking requirements for the commercial use of the site are adequate. The proposed use of the 
remainder of the site for self-storage, does not warrant a significant amount of dedicated parking. 
Additionally, much of the area that serves the storage units is paved and will be used for parking, 
making the proposed parking numbers adequate to serve the site.  

 
c. Utilities and services, including water, sewer, drainage, gas and electricity, with particular 

reference to location, availability, capacity and compatibility. 
A sanitary sewer line bisects the property north to south. However, the storage units proposed do 
not require sewer or water service. It is assumed that electricity will be necessary to each of the 
proposed 8 new buildings on the site, but the location is not shown on the site plan. 
 

d. The location, nature and height of structures, walls, fences, and other improvements; their 
relation to adjacent property and uses; and the need for buffering or screening. 
The structures and pavement proposed are adequately set back from the adjacent uses, specifically 
the residential uses that abut the site. However, given the commercial nature and use of the self-
storage units, buffering is warranted along the southern and eastern boundaries of the property, 
where residential uses abut the property. The eastern edge of the property is currently a significant, 
mature tree stand. If this tree stand is proposed to remain, additional buffering is not needed in this 
area. No walls, fences or other site improvements are proposed on the site. 
 

e. The adequacy of required yard and open space requirements and sign provisions. 
The setbacks for the side yards, west and east property lines, abutting commercial, industrial and 
residential uses, and the rear yard, abutting residential uses, meet the setback standards of the GBD 
regulations.  
 



4 
 

No additional signs are indicated on the site plan. 
 
 

f. The general compatibility with adjacent properties, other properties in the district, and the 
general safety, health and comfort and general welfare of the community and surrounding 
neighborhood. 
The location of the proposed self-storage units on the subject property are at the southern edge of 
the commercial frontage of US 24/40. The development of self-storage units within this commercial 
district is appropriate. However, immediately adjacent to the south of this property are residential 
neighborhoods, both existing and planned. Because of the limited patronage and vehicular access of 
the storage facilities, it is an appropriate use of this land in this context. The site improvement 
conditions defined in the recommendations will ensure that any potential negative impacts will be 
mitigated. 

 

IV. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Provided that the Planning Commission finds that the review criteria have been met based on the 
testimony and record at the hearing, staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit subject to 
the following conditions: 

a. The Special Use Permit is allowed for an unlimited amount of time based on meeting the 
conditions proposed. 

b. The height of the buildings not exceed two-stories in height. 
c. The project be buffered, through fencing or landscape, creating an opaque screen between 

the subject property and adjacent properties along the southern and eastern boundaries 
that are currently developed or planned for residential uses. If the tree stand along the 
eastern edge of the property is to remain intact, as it appears on the drawings, no 
additional buffering is needed along that edge of the property. 

 Fencing or landscaping of the property line along planned residential properties may 
occur at the time of development of the adjacent property. 

d. Site lighting, if desired, should be limited to down lighting that does not spill over to 
adjacent properties or produce glare on those properties. 

e. Any comments provided by the Fire Chief regarding emergency access should be addressed 
with the development of the site. 

 
V. EFFECT OF DECISION 

 The Planning Commission decision is a recommendation to Governing Body; final approval of 
the City Council is required.  Following the consideration of any additional input from the 
applicant, City Staff, or the public, and based on the application and testimony at the hearing, 
the Planning Commission may take one of the following actions. 

 Recommend approval of the application; 

 Recommend approval of the application, subject to conditions;  

 Recommend denial of the application; or 

 Continue the application to another date for further consideration and additional 
information.  If continued to a specific date, time and location, no new notice will be 
required. 

 The City Council considers the application at the next meeting after 14 days. 

 If a valid protest petition is filed with the City of Tonganoxie City Clerk within 14 days from the 
conclusion of the Planning Commission hearing, the City Council must approve the application 
by a ¾ majority of the governing body. 

 
VI. PHOTOS AND MAPS  (See next page) 



5 
 

 

 
_________________________________ 
Chris Brewster 
Gould Evans 
  





6 
 

 

  
Property Map 

 

 
 

 
Aerial Map 



7 
 

 
 

  
Zoning Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Street View Looking South on Property 

 
 



8 
 

 
Street View Looking North Across from US-24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Street View Looking East on US-24  

 



9 
 

 

 
Street View Looking West on US-24 

 
 















 

Kansas City Metro, KS & MO (9 Counties) 

County 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Johnson 36.43% 38.29% 35.23% 31.43% 29.04% 31.69% 32.26%

Jackson 16.28% 16.58% 17.66% 19.06% 18.06% 18.93% 20.29%

Clay 18.51% 15.40% 17.73% 16.84% 18.92% 17.17% 14.31%

Platte 10.15% 9.34% 8.27% 10.37% 9.05% 7.38% 8.93%

Cass 5.81% 5.85% 7.02% 6.09% 9.57% 10.33% 9.10%

Douglas 4.55% 5.07% 4.18% 7.10% 4.45% 4.38% 4.44%

Leavenworth 3.73% 4.46% 4.77% 4.38% 4.01% 3.78% 4.90%

Wyandotte 3.96% 3.77% 4.00% 3.35% 4.52% 4.68% 3.26%

Miami 0.59% 1.23% 1.14% 1.39% 2.38% 1.67% 2.51%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Miami

Wyandotte

Leavenworth

Douglas

Cass

Platte

Clay

Jackson

Johnson

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Market Share by County
(Based on Building Permits Issued)

MKTSHARE.XLSX / MKTSHARE

August 2018
© MarketGraphics Research Group, Inc. 2018 4 



Residential Building Permit Statistics

AUGUST 2018
Single Multi- S-F M-F Total Single Multi- S-F M-F Total

 Family Family Total Units Units Units Family Family Total Units Units Units
Units^ Units% Units YTD YTD YTD Units^ Units% Units YTD YTD YTD

CASS COUNTY LEAVENWORTH COUNTY
Archie 0 0 0 0 0 0 Basehor 3 0 3 88 0 88
Belton 0 0 0 54 0 54 Lansing 0 0 0 1 0 1
Cass County 7 0 7 55 0 55 Leav. County 7 0 7 58 0 58
Cleveland 0 0 0 0 0 0 Leavenworth 9 0 9 23 0 23
Garden City 1 0 1 1 0 1 Tonganoxie 1 0 1 23 0 23
Harrisonville 0 0 0 8 0 8 20 0 20 193 0 193
Lake Winnebago 6 0 6 9 0 9
Lee's Summit 4 0 4 30 0 30 WYANDOTTE COUNTY
Peculiar 2 0 2 46 0 46 Bonner Springs 3 0 3 7 0 7
Pleasant Hill 0 0 0 14 0 14 Edwardsville 0 0 0 1 0 1
Raymore 11 0 11 100 12 112 KCK/Wyandotte Co 18 0 18 141 0 141
Village of Loch Lloyd 0 0 0 10 0 10 21 0 21 149 0 149

31 0 31 327 12 339
MIAMI COUNTY
Louisburg 1 0 1 13 0 13

CLAY COUNTY Miami County 8 0 8 45 0 45
Clay County 7 0 7 28 0 28 Osawatomie 0 0 0 0 0 0
Excelsior Springs 1 0 1 12 0 12 Paola 0 0 0 3 0 3
Gladstone 1 0 1 11 0 11 Spring Hill 1 0 1 19 0 19
Kansas City 39 0 39 379 0 379 10 0 10 80 0 80
Kearney 4 0 4 93 0 93
Lawson 0 0 0 0 0 0 Totals 513 1040 1553 4107 2345 6452
Liberty 6 0 6 32 0 32
North Kansas City 0 0 0 1 0 1
Pleasant Valley 0 0 0 0 0 0
Smithville 48 0 48 127 0 127

106 0 106 683 0 683

JACKSON COUNTY
Blue Springs 42 0 42 308 10 318  Month/Year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Buckner 0 0 0 0 0 0  January 90 188 273 287 240 274 457 425
Grain Valley 23 0 23 89 0 89  February 121 182 224 216 260 408 477 461
Grandview 0 0 0 12 156 168  March 180 270 335 362 393 542 571 550
Greenwood 0 0 0 0 0 0 April 210 277 444 439 437 523 562 502
Independence 12 0 12 110 0 110  May 230 294 337 385 395 503 504 594
Jackson County 7 0 7 56 0 56 June 262 268 333 364 438 578 567 577
Kansas City 6 201 207 66 971 1037 July 204 288 409 375 399 494 512 485
Lake Lotawana 0 0 0 16 0 16 August 205 260 354 352 425 536 480 513
Lee's Summit 19 170 189 262 180 442  September 202 379 384 383 462 424 514
Oak Grove 2 0 2 15 0 15  October 205 331 369 468 459 466 583
Raytown 0 0 0 0 0 0  November 185 283 340 312 360 417 502
Sugar Creek 0 0 0 0 0 0  December 207 279 288 328 432 352 468

111 371 482 934 1317 2251
 Annual Total 2,301      3,299  4,090  4,271  4,700  5,517  6,197       4,107  
PLATTE COUNTY
Kansas City 19 0 19 145 0 145
Parkville 2 0 2 64 0 64
Platte City 0 0 0 1 0 1
Platte County 9 0 9 131 0 131
Riverside 1 0 1 23 0 23
Weatherby  Lake 1 0 1 11 0 11
Weston 0 0 0 0 0 0 S-F M-F Total

32 0 32 375 0 375 Units Units Units
2011 1502 576 2078

JOHNSON COUNTY 2012 2027 1062 3089
De Soto 4 0 4 25 0 25 2013 2709 1881 4590
Edgerton 0 0 0 0 0 0 2014 2780 2271 5051
Fairway 1 0 1 7 0 7 2015 2987 1765 4752
Gardner 16 0 16 99 0 99 2016 3858 3062 6920
Johnson County 8 0 8 35 0 35 2017 4130 1213 5343
Leawood 6 0 6 37 0 37 2018 4107 2345 6452
Lenexa 27 0 27 255 0 255
Merriam 0 0 0 1 0 1
Mission Hills 0 0 0 4 0 4
Olathe 41 0 41 383 22 405
Overland Park 39 669 708 266 994 1260
Prairie Village 9 0 9 39 0 39
Roeland Park 0 0 0 0 0 0
Shawnee 16 0 16 100 0 100
Spring Hill 14 0 14 111 0 111
Westwood 1 0 1 4 0 4

182 669 851 1366 1016 2382

Permit information reflects the most recent data at time of publication.  In order to ensure 
accurate recording of residential building permit statistics, the HBA may revise monthly and year-
to-date figures when updated data is made available.  Copyright 2018 Home Builders Assoc of 
Greater Kansas City. All rights reserved. 

Comparison of Single Family

(Cass, Clay, Jackson, Platte, Johnson, Leavenworth, Miami, Wyandotte Counties)

Building Units for Greater Kansas City

Comparison of Permits By Units Issued Year to Date

2011 - 2018

^The Single Family number is units and includes both attached and detached units.
%Multi-Family units are in buildings with 5 or more units. 

# Not available at time of report


